GAP INC Form S-3ASR April 07, 2011 Table of Contents

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2011

Registration No. 333-

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form S-3

REGISTRATION STATEMENT

UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

The Gap, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Two Folsom Street

San Francisco, California 94105

Delaware

(650) 952-4400

94-1697231

(State of Incorporation)

code, of agent for service)

(Address, Including Zip Code, and Telephone Number, Including Area Code, of Registrant s Principal Executive Offices) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

	Copy to:
Michelle Banks, Esq	Brett Cooper, Esq.
Executive Vice President and General Counsel	Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP
The Gap, Inc.	The Orrick Building
Two Folsom Street	405 Howard Street
San Francisco, California 94105	San Francisco, California 94105
(650) 952-4400 (Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area	(415) 773-5700

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: From time to time after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box: "

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box: b

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box. b

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box.

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2).

Large accelerated filer þ

Accelerated filer "

Non-accelerated filer " (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

		Proposed	Proposed	
		Maximum	Maximum	
	Amount	Offering Price	Aggregate	
Title of Each Class of	to be			Amount of
Securities to be Registered	Registered (1)	per Unit (1)	Offering Price (1)	Registration Fee (2)
Debt Securities				
Common Stock				
Preferred Stock				
Depositary Shares				
Warrants to Purchase Common Stock, Preferred				
Stock or Debt Securities				
Securities Purchase Contracts				

- (1) An indeterminate amount or number of Debt Securities, Common Stock, Preferred Stock, Depositary Shares, Warrants, Securities Purchase Contracts and Securities Purchase Units is being registered and may from time to time be issued at indeterminate prices.
- (2) In accordance with Rule 456(b) and Rule 457(r) under the Securities Act, the registrant is deferring payment of all of the registration fee.

Securities Purchase Units

PROSPECTUS

Debt Securities, Common Stock, Preferred Stock,

Depositary Shares, Warrants to Purchase Debt Securities,

Common Stock and Preferred Stock,

Securities Purchase Contracts and Securities Purchase Units

The Gap, Inc. may offer and sell an indeterminate amount of securities from time to time in one or more offerings. This prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities that we may offer.

Each time we sell securities, we will provide a supplement to this prospectus that contains specific information about the offering and the terms of the securities. The supplement may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. You should carefully read this prospectus and the accompanying prospectus supplement before you invest in any of our securities.

See <u>Risk Factors</u> on page 2 for information on certain risks related to the purchase of our securities.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other regulatory body has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Prospectus dated April 7, 2011

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The Company	1
<u>Risk Factors</u>	2
Forward-Looking Statements	2
Use of Proceeds	5
Certain Ratios	5
Description of the Securities	6
Description of the Debt Securities	6
Description of Common Stock and Preferred Stock	16
Description of Warrants	19
Description of Securities Purchase Contracts and Securities Purchase Units	22
Description of Depositary Shares	24
Global Securities	27
<u>Plan of Distribution</u>	29
Validity of the Securities	30
Experts	30
Where You Can Find More Information	30
Documents Incorporated by Reference	30

i

THE COMPANY

General

The Gap, Inc. (the Company, we, us and our) was incorporated in the State of California in July 1969 and was reincorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in May 1988.

We are a global specialty retailer offering apparel, accessories, and personal care products for men, women, children, and babies under the Gap, Old Navy, Banana Republic, Piperlime, and Athleta brands. Most of the products sold under our brand names are designed by us and manufactured by independent sources. We also sell products that are designed and manufactured by branded third parties. We have Company-operated stores in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, France, Ireland, Japan, and beginning in November 2010, China and Italy. We also have franchise agreements with unaffiliated franchisees to operate Gap and Banana Republic stores in many other countries around the world. Under these agreements, third parties operate or will operate stores that sell apparel and related products under our brand names.

We design most of our products, which are manufactured by independent sources, and sell them under our brands:

Gap. Gap products are sold in three channels: full price retail stores, online, and outlet. Founded in 1969, Gap stores offer an extensive selection of classically styled, high quality, casual apparel at moderate price points. Products range from wardrobe basics such as denim, khakis, and T-shirts to fashion apparel, accessories, and personal care products for men and women. In 1986, we entered the children s apparel market with the introduction of GapKids, and in 1989, we established babyGap. These stores offer casual apparel and accessories in the tradition of Gap style and quality for children ages newborn through pre-teen. We also offer maternity apparel. In 1998, we launched GapBody, offering women s underwear, sleepwear, loungewear, and sports and active apparel. We operate Gap Outlet stores, which carry similar categories of products at lower price points. In 1997, we introduced Gap Online, an online store found at gap.com. Gap Online offers products comparable to those carried in Gap, GapKids, babyGap, and GapBody stores, as well as extended sizes not found in stores. Beginning in 2010, customers in Canada can shop online at gap.can. and customers in select international countries can shop online at gap.com.

Banana Republic. Banana Republic products are sold in three channels: full price retail stores, online, and outlet. Acquired in 1983 with two stores, Banana Republic offers sophisticated, fashionable collections of casual and tailored apparel, shoes, accessories, and personal care products for men and women at higher price points than Gap. We operate Banana Republic Factory Stores, which carry similar categories of products at lower price points. In 1999, we introduced Banana Republic Online, an online store found at bananarepublic.com, which offers products comparable to those carried in the store collections, as well as extended sizes not found in stores. Beginning in 2010, customers in Canada can shop online at bananarepublic.ca, customers in the United Kingdom and select European countries can shop online at bananarepublic.eu, and customers in select international countries can shop online at bananarepublic.com.

Old Navy. Old Navy products are sold in two channels: full price retail stores and online. We launched Old Navy in 1994 to address the market for value-priced family apparel. Old Navy offers broad selections of apparel, shoes, and accessories for adults, children, and babies, as well as other items, including a maternity line, consumables, and personal care products. In 2000, we established Old Navy Online, an online store found at oldnavy.com. Old Navy Online offers apparel and accessories comparable to those carried in the store collections, as well as a plus size line not found in stores. Beginning in 2010, customers in Canada can shop online at oldnavy.ca and customers in select international countries can shop online at oldnavy.com.

Piperlime. In 2006, we launched Piperlime, an online-only store found at piperlime.com. Piperlime offers customers an assortment of the leading brands in footwear, handbags, apparel, and jewelry for women and

footwear for men and kids, as well as tips, trends, and advice from leading style authorities. Beginning in 2010, customers in select international countries can shop online at piperlime.com.

Athleta. Athleta products are sold in two channels: full price retail stores and online. Acquired in September 2008, Athleta offers customers high quality and performance-driven women s sports and active apparel and footwear that is stylish and functional for a variety of activities, including golf, running, skiing and snowboarding, tennis, and yoga. In May 2010, we opened a test store in Mill Valley, California, and in January 2011, we opened a flagship store in San Francisco, California. Customers can purchase Athleta product, as well as an assortment of products from leading brands in women s active-wear, online at athleta.com, through the catalog, or in our stores. Beginning in 2010, customers in select international countries can shop online at athleta.com.

As of January 29, 2011 we had 3,246 Company-operated and franchise store locations.

Our executive offices are located at Two Folsom Street, San Francisco, California 94105, and our telephone number is (650) 952-4400.

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves risk. Please see the risk factors described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus. Before making an investment decision, you should carefully consider these risks as well as other information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus or the applicable supplement to this prospectus. The risks and uncertainties described are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also impair our business operations, financial results and the value of our securities.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement contain forward-looking statements within the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than those that are purely historical are forward-looking statements. Words such as expect, anticipate, believe, estimate, intend, plan, project and similar expressions also identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the following:

our plans to expand internationally through a number of channels and brands, including additional Gap stores in Europe and China, expand Banana Republic stores in Europe, additional outlet stores in Canada, Europe, and Asia, online sales internationally, and additional franchising and similar arrangements;

future online revenue growth;

the impact that increases in commodity prices will have on our gross margins;

our plans to downsize, consolidate, reposition, or close some of our stores;

cash and cash flows being sufficient for the next 12 months and beyond;

the outcome of proceedings, lawsuits, disputes, and claims;

growing revenues;

maintaining a focus on cost management and return on invested capital;

generating strong free cash flow and returning excess cash to shareholders;

investing in the future while delivering earnings per share growth;

the effective tax rate in fiscal 2011;

current cash balances and cash flows being adequate to support our business operations, including growth initiatives, planned capital expenditures, and dividend payments and share repurchases;

being able to supplement near-term liquidity with our existing credit facility;

capital expenditures in fiscal 2011;

the number of new store openings and store closings in fiscal 2011;

net square footage change in fiscal 2011;

our plan to increase our dividend in fiscal 2011;

future share repurchases;

the expected payments and the expected benefits, including cost savings, resulting from our services agreement with IBM;

the maximum potential amount of future lease payments;

the impact of losses due to indemnification obligations;

the maximum exposure for the reinsurance pool in future periods;

the estimates and assumptions we use in our accounting policies, including those used to calculate our lower of cost or market and inventory shortage adjustments, our impairment of long-lived assets, goodwill, and intangible assets, our insurance liabilities, our future sales returns, our breakage income, and our settlement of foreign and domestic tax audits;

the assumptions used to value share-based compensation expense;

future lease payments and related net cash outlay;

our intent to use earnings in foreign operations for an indefinite period of time;

total gross unrecognized tax benefits; and

the impact of recent tax return and refund claim audits. Because these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, there are important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. These factors include, without limitation, the following:

the risk that the adoption of new accounting pronouncements will impact future results;

the risk that changes in general economic conditions or consumer spending patterns will have a negative impact on our financial performance or strategies;

the highly competitive nature of our business in the United States and internationally;

the risk that we will be unsuccessful in gauging fashion trends and changing consumer preferences;

the risk that our efforts to expand internationally may not be successful and could impair the value of our brands;

the continued adverse effect on our business and financial position arising from the March 2011 earthquake in Japan and related tsunami and disaster at certain nuclear power plants, including the effects of damages to our stores and reduced customer spending in Japan;

the risk that our franchisees will be unable to successfully open, operate, and grow the Company s franchised stores;

the risk that we will be unsuccessful in identifying, negotiating, and securing new store locations and renewing or modifying leases for existing store locations effectively;

the risk that comparable sales and margins will experience fluctuations;

the risk that we will be unsuccessful in implementing our strategic, operating and people initiatives;

the risk that changes in our credit profile or deterioration in market conditions may limit our access to the capital markets;

the risk that trade matters, sourcing costs, events causing disruptions in product shipments from China and other foreign countries, or an inability to secure sufficient manufacturing capacity may disrupt our supply chain or operations, or impact our financial results;

the risk that updates or changes to our information technology (IT) systems may disrupt our operations;

the risk that our IT services agreement with IBM could cause disruptions in our operations and have an adverse effect on our financial results;

the risk that acts or omissions by our third-party vendors, including a failure to comply with our code of vendor conduct, could have a negative impact on our reputation or operations;

the risk that we do not repurchase some or all of the shares we anticipate purchasing pursuant to our repurchase program;

the risk that we will not be successful in defending various proceedings, lawsuits, disputes, claims, and audits, any of which could impact net sales, expenses, and/or planned strategies; and

the risk that changes in the regulatory or administrative landscape could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Additional information regarding factors that could cause results to differ can be found in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and our other filings with the SEC.

Future economic and industry trends that could potentially impact net sales and profitability are difficult to predict. These forward-looking statements are based on information as of the date specified in this prospectus, the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus or the applicable prospectus supplement in which such statements are made and we assume no obligation to publicly update or revise our forward-looking statements even if experience or future changes make it clear that any projected results expressed or implied therein will not be realized.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will use the net proceeds from the sale of the securities as set forth in a prospectus supplement relating to such securities.

CERTAIN RATIOS

The following table sets forth our Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends for the periods indicated:

	Fiscal Year Ended				
	January 29, 2011	January 30, 2010	January 31, 2009	February 2, 2008	February 3, 2007 (1)
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges	4.7x	4.4x	3.9x	3.6x	3.5x
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends	4.7x	4.4x	3.9x	3.6x	3.5x

(1) The fiscal year ended February 3, 2007 included 53 weeks.

For purposes of computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges and ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends, earnings consist of earnings before income taxes plus fixed charges (less capitalized interest), and fixed charges consist of gross interest incurred, capitalized interest and the estimated interest portion of rent expense. As of the date of this prospectus, we do not have any shares of our preferred stock outstanding.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES

The following is a general description of the terms and provisions of the securities we may offer and sell by this prospectus. These summaries are not meant to be a complete description of each security. This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement will contain the material terms and conditions for each security. The accompanying prospectus supplement may add, update or change the terms and conditions of the securities as described in this prospectus.

DESCRIPTION OF THE DEBT SECURITIES

The debt securities are to be issued under an Indenture as amended or supplemented from time to time, (the Indenture) to be entered into between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (the Trustee), a copy of which is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (the Registration Statement) that we filed with the SEC under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), of which this prospectus is a part. The statements herein relating to the debt securities and the following summaries of certain provisions of the Indenture do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the Indenture, including the definitions therein of certain terms, and the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the Trust Indenture Act).

The following sets forth certain general terms and provisions of the debt securities offered hereby. The particular terms of the debt securities offered by any prospectus supplement and the extent, if any, to which such general terms and provisions may not apply to the debt securities so offered will be described in the prospectus supplement relating to such debt securities.

General

The Indenture will not limit the amount of debt securities that may be issued thereunder and debt securities may be issued thereunder from time to time in one or more series. The debt securities will be unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Company and will rank equally and ratably with other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Company.

Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, principal of, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the debt securities will be payable, and the transfer of debt securities will be registrable, at the office or agency to be maintained by the Company in Minneapolis, MN and at any other office or agency maintained by the Company for this purpose. The debt securities will be issued only in fully registered form without coupons and, unless otherwise indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, in denominations of \$2,000 or integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof. No service charge will be made for any registration of transfer or exchange of the debt securities, but the Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge imposed in connection therewith.

The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the terms of the offered debt securities, including:

the title of the debt securities;

any limit on the aggregate principal amount of the debt securities;

the person or entity to whom any interest on the debt securities shall be payable, if other than the person or entity in whose name that security (or one or more predecessor securities) is registered at the close of business on the regular record date for such interest;

the date or dates on which the principal of and premium, if any, on the debt securities is payable or the method of determination thereof;

the rate or rates at which the debt securities shall bear interest, if any, or the method of calculating the rate or rates of interest, the date or dates from which any interest shall accrue or the method by which the date or dates shall be determined, the interest payment dates on which any interest shall be payable and the regular record date for interest payable on any interest payment date;

the place or places where the principal of, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the debt securities shall be payable;

the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which, the currency or currencies (including currency units) in which and the other terms and conditions upon which the debt securities may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at the option of the Company;

the obligation, if any, of the Company to redeem or purchase the debt securities pursuant to any sinking fund or analogous provisions or at the option of a holder and the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which and the other terms and conditions upon which the debt securities shall be redeemed or purchased, in whole or in part, pursuant to such obligation;

if other than denominations of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof, the denominations in which the debt securities shall be issuable;

the currency, currencies or currency units in which payment of the principal of and any premium and interest on any debt securities shall be payable if other than the currency of the United States of America and the manner of determining the equivalent thereof in the currency of the United States of America;

if the amount of payments of principal of or any premium or interest on any debt securities may be determined with reference to an index, formula or other method, the index, formula or other method by which these amounts shall be determined;

if the principal of or any premium or interest on any debt securities is to be payable, at the election of the Company or a holder, in one or more currencies or currency units other than that or those in which the debt securities are stated to be payable, the currency, currencies or currency units in which payment of the principal of and any premium and interest on the debt securities as to which such election is made shall be payable, and the periods within which and the other terms and conditions upon which such election is to be made;

if other than the principal amount, the portion of the principal amount of the debt securities which shall be payable upon declaration of acceleration of maturity or the method by which the portion may be determined;

the applicability of the provisions described under Defeasance of Offered Debt Securities or Certain Covenants in Certain Circumstances ;

if the debt securities will be issuable only in the form of one or more global debt securities as described under Global Securities, the depositary or its nominee with respect to the debt securities and the circumstances under which the global debt security may be registered for transfer or exchange or authenticated and delivered in the name of a person or entity other than the depositary or its nominee; and

any other terms of the debt securities.

Debt securities may be issued under the Indenture as original issue discount debt securities to be offered and sold at a substantial discount below their stated principal amount. Special federal income tax, accounting and other considerations applicable thereto will be described in the prospectus supplement relating thereto. Original issue discount debt security means any debt security which provides for an amount less than the principal amount to be due and payable upon a declaration of acceleration of maturity upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default.

If the purchase price of any of the debt securities is payable in one or more foreign currencies or currency units, if any debt securities are denominated in one or more foreign currencies or currency units or if the principal of, premium, if any, or interest, if any, on any debt securities is payable in one or more foreign currencies or currency units, the restrictions, elections, material U.S. federal income tax considerations and other information with respect to such issue of debt securities and such foreign currency or currency units will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement.

If any index is used to determine the amount of payments of principal of, premium, if any, or interest, if any, on any series of debt securities, material U.S. federal income tax, accounting and other considerations applicable thereto will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Events of Default

Any one of the following events will constitute an Event of Default under the Indenture with respect to debt securities of any series:

(a) failure to pay any interest on any debt security of that series when due, continued for 30 days;

(b) failure to pay principal of or any premium on any debt security of that series when due;

(c) failure to deposit any sinking fund payment, when due, in respect of any debt security of that series;

(d) failure to perform, or breach of, any covenant or warranty of the Company in the Indenture with respect to debt securities of that series continued for 60 days after written notice as provided in the Indenture;

(e) a default under any indebtedness for money borrowed by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company if (A) the default either (1) results from the failure to pay the principal of any such indebtedness at its stated maturity or (2) relates to an obligation other than the obligation to pay the principal of such indebtedness at its stated maturity and results in such indebtedness becoming or being declared due and payable prior to the date on which it would otherwise become due and payable, (B) the principal amount of such indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such indebtedness in default for failure to pay principal at stated maturity or the maturity of which has been so accelerated, aggregates \$50,000,000 or more at any one time outstanding and (C) such indebtedness is not discharged, or such acceleration is not rescinded or annulled, within 10 business days after written notice as provided in the Indenture;

(f) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of the Company; or

(g) any other Event of Default provided with respect to debt securities of that series.

If an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default described in clause (f) of the preceding paragraph) with respect to the debt securities of any series at the time outstanding shall occur and be continuing, either the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series may accelerate the maturity of all debt securities of that series; provided, however, that after such acceleration, but before a judgment or decree based on acceleration, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series may, under certain circumstances, rescind and annul such acceleration if all Events of Default, other than the non-payment of accelerated principal, have been cured or waived as provided in the Indenture. If an Event of Default described in clause (f) of the immediately preceding paragraph occurs, the outstanding debt securities will ipso facto become immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or any holder.

Reference is made to the applicable prospectus supplement relating to any series of debt securities that are original issue discount debt securities for the particular provisions relating to acceleration of the stated maturity

of a portion of the principal amount of such series of original issue discount debt securities upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and the continuation thereof.

The Indenture will provide that the Trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the Indenture at the request or direction of any of the holders of debt securities, unless such holders shall have offered to the Trustee indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it. Subject to such provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and to certain other conditions, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee, with respect to the debt securities of that series.

No holder of debt securities of any series will have any right to institute any proceeding with respect to the Indenture or for any remedy thereunder, unless that holder shall have previously given to the Trustee written notice of a continuing Event of Default and unless the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series shall have made written request, and offered indemnity reasonably satisfactory, to the Trustee to institute such proceeding as trustee, and the Trustee shall not have received from the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series a direction inconsistent with such request and shall have failed to institute such proceeding within 60 days. However, these limitations do not apply to a suit instituted by a holder of debt securities for enforcement of payment of the principal of and premium, if any, or interest, if any, on such debt securities on or after the respective due dates expressed in such debt securities.

The Company will be required to furnish to the Trustee annually a statement as to the performance by the Company of certain of its obligations under the Indenture and as to any default in such performance.

Modification and Waiver

Modifications and amendments of the Indenture may be made by the Company and the Trustee without the consent of the holders of any of the debt securities in order

to evidence the succession of another entity to the Company and the assumption of the covenants and obligations of the Company under the debt securities and the Indenture by such successor to the Company;

to add to the covenants of the Company for the benefit of the holders of all or any series of debt securities or to surrender any right or power conferred on the Company by the Indenture;

to add additional Events of Default with respect to any series of debt securities;

to add to or change any provisions to such extent as may be necessary to permit or facilitate the issuance of debt securities in bearer form or to facilitate the issuance of global debt securities;

to add to, change or eliminate any provision affecting only debt securities not yet issued;

to secure the debt securities;

to establish the form or terms of debt securities of any series;

to evidence and provide for successor trustees or to add or change any provisions to such extent as may be necessary to provide for or facilitate the appointment of a separate trustee or trustees for specific series of debt securities;

to permit payment in respect of debt securities in bearer form in the United States to the extent allowed by law; or

to cure any ambiguity, to correct or supplement any mistaken or inconsistent provisions or to make any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under the Indenture, *provided* that any

such action (other than in respect of a mistaken provision) does not adversely affect in any material respect the interests of any holder of debt securities of any series then outstanding.

Modifications and amendments of the Indenture also may be made by the Company and the Trustee with the consent of the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of each series issued under the Indenture and affected by the modification or amendments; *provided*, *however*, that no modification or amendment may, without the consent of the holders of all debt securities affected thereby,

change the stated maturity of the principal amount of, or any installment of principal of or interest, if any, on, any debt security;

reduce the principal amount of, or the premium, if any, or (except as otherwise provided in the applicable prospectus supplement) interest, if any, on any debt security (including in the case of an original issue discount debt security the amount payable upon acceleration of maturity);

change the place or currency of payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest, if any, on any debt security;

impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on any debt security on or after its stated maturity (or in the case of redemption, on or after the redemption date); or

reduce the percentage in principal amount of outstanding debt securities of any series, the consent of whose holders is required for modification or amendment of the Indenture or for waiver of compliance with certain provisions of the Indenture or for waiver of certain defaults.

The holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series may, on behalf of all holders of debt securities of that series, waive compliance by the Company with certain restrictive provisions of the Indenture. The holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series may, on behalf of all holders of debt securities of that series, waive any past default under the Indenture, except a default in the payment of principal, premium or interest or in respect of a covenant or provision of the Indenture that cannot be modified or amended without the consent of the holder of each outstanding debt security of such series affected thereby.

No Protection in the Event of a Change of Control

Unless otherwise set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, the debt securities will not contain any provisions which may afford holders of the debt securities protection in the event of a change in control of the Company or in the event of a highly leveraged transaction (whether or not the transaction results in a change in control of the Company).

Certain Covenants

Unless otherwise set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, and except as set forth below, the debt securities will not contain any restrictive covenants, including covenants restricting the Company or any of its subsidiaries from incurring, issuing, assuming or guaranteeing any indebtedness.

Limitation on Liens

We may not, and may not permit any North American Subsidiary to, create or suffer to exist any Lien upon any Principal Property, or upon shares of capital stock or evidences of Indebtedness issued by any North American Subsidiary and owned by us or any North American Subsidiary (whether such Principal Property, or shares or evidences of Indebtedness were owned as of the date of the Indenture or thereafter acquired) to secure any Indebtedness of ours or any North American Subsidiary, without making, or causing such North American Subsidiary to make, effective provision to secure all of the outstanding debt securities by such Lien, equally and

ratably with any and all other Indebtedness thereby secured, so long as such Indebtedness is so secured, unless, after giving effect thereto, the sum of (A) the principal amount of all such other Indebtedness secured by all such Liens and (B) the then outstanding Attributable Value of all Sale and Lease-Back Transactions entered into after the date of the Indenture and otherwise permitted only by clause (ii) described under Limitation on Sale and Lease-Back Transactions below does not at the time exceed the greater of \$600 million or 10% of our Consolidated Net

Tangible Assets.

The foregoing restrictions do not apply to Indebtedness secured by Liens existing on the date of the Indenture or to:

- (i) Liens on any Property existing at the time of the acquisition thereof;
- (ii) Liens on Property of any Person existing at the time such Person is merged into, consolidated with or acquired by us or a North American Subsidiary or at the time of a sale, lease or other disposition of the Properties of such Person (or a division thereof) as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to us or a North American Subsidiary, *provided* that such Lien as a result of such merger, consolidation, acquisition, sale, lease or other disposition is not extended to Principal Property owned or leased by us or such North American Subsidiary immediately prior thereto;
- (iii) Liens on Property of a Person existing at the time such Person becomes a North American Subsidiary;
- (iv) Liens securing Indebtedness of a North American Subsidiary to us or to another North American Subsidiary;
- (v) Liens to secure all or part of the cost of acquisition, construction, development or improvement of the underlying Property, or to secure Indebtedness incurred to provide funds for any such purpose (including purchase money security interest or purchase money mortgage on real or personal property), *provided* that the commitment of the creditor to extend the credit secured by any such Lien shall have been obtained not later than 12 months after the later of (a) the completion of the acquisition, construction, development or improvement of such Property and (b) the placing in operation of such Property or of such Property as so constructed, developed or improved;
- (vi) Liens on any Property created, assumed or otherwise brought into existence in contemplation of the sale or other disposition of the underlying Property, whether directly or indirectly, by way of share disposition or otherwise, *provided* that we or the applicable North American Subsidiary must have disposed of such Property within 180 days after the creation of such Liens and that any Indebtedness secured by such Liens shall be without recourse to us or any North American Subsidiary;
- (vii) Liens in favor of the United States of America or any State thereof, or any department, agency or instrumentality or political subdivision thereof, to secure partial, progress, advance or other payments;
- (viii) Liens to secure Indebtedness on any Property of joint ventures which constitute North American Subsidiaries in which we or a North American Subsidiary has an interest, to the extent such Liens are on property or assets of, or equity interests in, such joint ventures;
- (ix) Liens incurred or assumed in connection with the issuance of revenue bonds the interest on which is exempt from federal taxation pursuant to Section 103(b) of the Internal Revenue Code; and
- (x) any extension, renewal, replacement or refunding of any Lien existing on the date of the Indenture or referred to in clauses (i) through (ix), *provided* that the principal amount of Indebtedness secured thereby and not otherwise authorized by clauses (i) through (ix) shall not exceed the principal amount of Indebtedness, plus any premium or fee payable in connection with any such extension, renewal,

Table of Contents

replacement or refunding, so secured at the time of such extension, renewal, replacement or refunding.

Limitation on Sale and Lease-Back Transactions

We may not, and may not permit any North American Subsidiary to, enter into any Sale and Lease-Back Transaction with respect to any Principal Property, unless

- (i) we apply, or such North American Subsidiary applies, within 180 days after the effective date of such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction, an amount equal to the Net Available Proceeds therefrom to (A) the acquisition of one or more Principal Properties or (B) the retirement of the debt securities or the repayment of other Indebtedness of ours or any North American Subsidiary (other than such Indebtedness owned by us or such North American Subsidiary) which, in the case of such Indebtedness of ours, is not subordinate and junior in right of payment to the prior payment of the debt securities; or
- (ii) after giving effect thereto, the sum of (A) the principal amount of all Indebtedness secured by a Lien upon any Principal Property, or upon shares of capital stock of or evidences of Indebtedness issued by any North American Subsidiary and owned by us or any North American Subsidiary and not otherwise permitted by clauses (i) through (x) under Limitation on Liens above and (B) the then outstanding Attributable Value of all Sale and Lease-Back Transactions entered into after the date of the Indenture and otherwise prohibited in accordance with this paragraph does not exceed the greater of \$600 million or 10% of our Consolidated Net Tangible Assets.

The foregoing restrictions will not apply to (x) a Sale and Lease-Back Transaction providing for a lease for a term, including any renewal thereof, of not more than three years, by the end of which term it is intended that the use of such Principal Property by the lessee will be discontinued; and (y) a Sale and Lease-Back Transaction between us and a North American Subsidiary or between North American Subsidiaries.

Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets

The Company may not consolidate with or merge with or into any other entity or transfer or lease its assets substantially as an entirety to any entity, unless

either the Company is the continuing corporation, or any successor or purchaser is a corporation, partnership or trust organized under the laws of the United States of America, any State or the District of Columbia, and the successor or purchaser expressly assumes the Company s obligations on the debt securities under a supplemental indenture;

immediately after giving effect to the transaction, no Event of Default, and no event which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event of Default, shall have occurred and be continuing; and

if a supplemental indenture is to be executed in connection with such consolidation, merger, transfer or lease, the Company has delivered to the Trustee an officers certificate and an opinion of counsel stating compliance with these provisions.

Certain Definitions

Set forth below is a summary of certain of the defined terms used under Certain Covenants . Reference is made to the Indenture for the full definition of all such terms, as well as any other terms used herein for which no definition is provided.

Attributable Value in respect of any Sale and Lease-Back Transaction means, as of the time of determination, the lesser of (i) the sale price of the Principal Property so leased multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the remaining portion of the base term of the lease included in such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction and the denominator of which is the base term of such lease, and (ii) the total obligation (discounted at the interest rate specified by the terms of the debt securities, compounded quarterly) of the lessee for rental payments (other than amounts required to be paid on account of property taxes as well as maintenance, repairs, insurance, water rates and other items which do not constitute payments for property rights) during the remaining portion of the base term of the lease included in such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction.

Consolidated Net Tangible Assets means the aggregate amount of assets (less applicable reserves and other properly deductible items) after deducting therefrom (a) all current liabilities (excluding any notes and loans payable, current maturities of long-term debt and current maturities of obligations under capital leases) and (b) all goodwill, trade names, patents, unamortized debt discount and expense and any other like intangibles, all as set forth on our most recent consolidated balance sheet and computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

corporation means a corporation, association, company, joint-stock company or business trust.

Indebtedness of any Person means (without duplication), with respect to any Person, (i) every obligation of such Person for money borrowed, (ii) every obligation of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, (iii) every reimbursement obligation of such Person with respect to letters of credit, bankers acceptances or similar facilities issued for the account of such Person and (iv) every obligation of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) of another Person the payment of which such Person has guaranteed or is responsible or liable for, directly or indirectly, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise (but only, in the case of clause (iv), to the extent such Person has guaranteed or is responsible or liable for such obligations).

Lien means, with respect to any property or assets, any mortgage or deed of trust, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, security interest, lien, encumbrance or other security arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever on or with respect to such property or assets (including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing).

Net Available Proceeds from any Sale and Lease-Back Transaction by any Person means cash or readily marketable cash equivalents received (including by way of sale or discounting of a note, installment receivable or other receivable, but excluding any other consideration received in the form of assumption by the acquiree of Indebtedness or obligations relating to the properties or assets that are the subject of such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction or received in any other noncash form) therefrom by such Person, net of (i) all legal, title and recording tax expenses, commissions and other fees and expenses incurred and all Federal, state, provincial, foreign and local taxes required to be accrued as a liability as a consequence of such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction; (ii) all payments made by such Person or its Subsidiaries on any Indebtedness which is secured in whole or in part by any such properties and assets in accordance with the terms of any Lien upon or with respect to any such properties and assets or which must, by the terms of such Lien, or in order to obtain a necessary consent to such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction or by applicable law, be repaid out of the proceeds from such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction; and (iii) all distributions and other payments made to minority interest holders in Subsidiaries of such Person or joint ventures as a result of such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction; provided, however, that for purposes of clause (i) as described under Limitation on Sale and Lease-Back Transactions above the amount of Net Available Proceeds to be applied to any acquisition of Properties or retirement of the debt securities or other Indebtedness shall be reduced by an amount equal to the sum of (A) an amount equal to the redemption price with respect to such debt securities delivered within 180 days after the effective date of such Sales and Lease-Back Transaction to the Trustee for retirement and cancellation and (B) the principal amount, plus any premium or fee paid in connection with a redemption in accordance with the terms, of such other Indebtedness voluntarily retired by us within such 180-day period, excluding in each case retirements pursuant to mandatory sinking fund or prepayment provisions and payments at maturity.

North American Subsidiary means a Subsidiary of the Company formed under the laws of, or conducting its principal operations within (1) the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia or (2) Canada or any province or territory thereof.

Person means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, unincorporated organization or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

Principal Property means any Property that has a net book value (after deduction of accumulated depreciation) in excess of 0.5% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets and which is owned or leased by us or any North American Subsidiary.

Property means any single parcel of real property or any permanent improvement thereon owned or leased by us or any of our Subsidiaries including, without limitation, any office, store, warehouse or distribution center or any portion thereof, and any equipment located at or comprising a part of any such property.

Sale and Lease-Back Transaction of us or any North American Subsidiary means an arrangement with any Person or to which such Person is a party providing for the leasing by us or any North American Subsidiary of any Principal Property that, more than 180 days after the later of (i) the completion of the acquisition, construction, development or improvement of such Principal Property or (ii) the placing in operation of such Principal Property as so constructed, developed or improved, has been or is being sold, conveyed, transferred or otherwise disposed of by us or any North American Subsidiary to such Person. The term of such arrangement, as of any date (the measurement date), shall end on the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such arrangement on or prior to the first date after the measurement date on which such arrangement may be terminated by the lessee, at its sole option without payment of a penalty.

Subsidiary of any Person means any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of capital stock or other interests (including membership and partnership interests) entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by (i) such Person, (ii) such Person and one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or (iii) one or more Subsidiaries of such Person.

Defeasance of Debt Securities or Certain Covenants in Certain Circumstances

Defeasance and Discharge

The Indenture will provide that the terms of any series of debt securities may provide the Company with the option to be discharged from any and all obligations in respect of the debt securities of such series (except for certain transfer and administrative duties) upon the deposit with the Trustee, in trust, of money and/or U.S. government obligations which, through the payment of interest and principal in accordance with their terms, will provide money in an amount sufficient to pay any installment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on, and any mandatory sinking fund payments in respect of, the debt securities of such series on the stated maturity of such payments in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and such debt securities. Discharge may only occur if, among other things, the Company has delivered to the Trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that the Company has received from, or there has been published by, the United States Internal Revenue Service a ruling, or there has been a change in tax law, in either case to the effect that such discharge will not be deemed, or result in, a taxable event with respect to holders of the debt securities of such series.

Defeasance of Certain Covenants

The Indenture will provide that the terms of any series of debt securities may provide the Company with the option to omit to comply with the restrictive covenant described in this prospectus under Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets and any other covenants made applicable to any series of debt securities as described in the applicable prospectus supplement. The Company, in order to exercise this option, will be required to deposit with the Trustee money and/or U.S. government obligations which, through the payment of interest and principal in accordance with their terms, will provide money in an amount sufficient to pay principal of, premium, if any, and interest, if any, on, and any mandatory sinking fund payments in respect of, the debt securities of such series on the stated maturity of such payments in accordance with the terms of the Indenture and such debt securities. The Company will also be required to deliver to the Trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that the deposit and related covenant defeasance will not cause the holders of the debt securities of such series to recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

In the event the Company exercises this option and the debt securities of such series are declared due and payable because of the occurrence of any Event of Default, the amount of money and U.S. government obligations on deposit with the Trustee will be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities of such series

at the time of their stated maturity but may not be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities of such series at the time of the acceleration resulting from such Event of Default. However, the Company shall remain liable for such payments.

The applicable prospectus supplement will state if any defeasance provisions will apply to the debt securities.

Concerning the Trustee

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association is the Trustee under the Indenture. The Trustee may resign at any time or may be removed by the Company or the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding debt securities. If the Trustee resigns, is removed or becomes incapable of acting as Trustee or if a vacancy occurs in the office of the Trustee for any cause, a successor Trustee shall be appointed in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture.

Governing Law

The Indenture and the debt securities will be governed and construed by the laws of the State of New York.

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK AND PREFERRED STOCK

Unless indicated differently in a prospectus supplement, this section describes the terms of our common stock, \$0.05 par value per share (common stock), and preferred stock, \$0.05 par value per share (preferred stock). The following description is only a summary and is qualified in its entirety by reference to applicable law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, and our bylaws. Copies of our amended and restated certificate of incorporated by reference as exhibits to the Registration Statement.

General

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, authorizes the issuance of 2,300,000,000 shares of common stock and 30,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of March 15, 2011, there were 584,492,032 shares of our common stock outstanding and no shares of preferred stock outstanding. All outstanding shares of our common stock are fully paid and nonassessable.

In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, authorizes the issuance of 60,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, which is convertible into shares of common stock on a share-for-share basis. Transfer of the shares of Class B common stock is restricted. In addition, the holders of the Class B common stock have six votes per share on most matters and are entitled to a lower cash dividend. No shares of Class B common stock have been issued as of the date of this prospectus.

Common Stock

We may issue our common stock from time to time upon such terms and for such consideration as may be determined by our board of directors. Such further issuances, up to the aggregate amounts authorized by our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, will not require approval by our stockholders. We may also issue common stock from time to time under employee benefit plans.

Except as otherwise provided by law, holders of our common stock have voting rights on the basis of one vote per share on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of stockholders, subject to any class or series voting rights of holders of our preferred stock. Our stockholders may not cumulate votes in elections of directors. As a result, the holders of our common stock and (if issued) preferred stock entitled to exercise more than 50% of the voting rights in an election of directors can elect all of the directors to be elected if they choose to do so. In such event, the holders of the remaining common stock and preferred stock voting for the election of directors will not be able to elect any persons to the board of directors.

Holders of our common stock, subject to any prior rights or preferences of preferred stock outstanding, have equal rights to receive dividends if and when declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available therefor.

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up and after payment of all prior claims, holders of our common stock would be entitled to receive any of our remaining assets, subject to any preferential rights of holders of outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Holders of our common stock have no preemptive rights to subscribe for additional shares of common stock or any of our other securities, nor do holders of our common stock have any redemption or conversion rights.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol GPS.

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Wells Fargo Shareowner Services.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors is authorized, pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, to issue up to 30,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and each of such series shall have such voting powers, designations, preferences, and relative participation, optional or other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof, as are stated or expressed in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, or in a resolution or resolutions, providing for the issuance of such series, adopted by the board of directors. Currently there are no shares of our preferred stock outstanding.

Our board of directors is authorized to fix by resolution or resolutions providing for the issuance of such series:

The number of shares constituting that series and the distinctive designation of that series;

The dividend rate on the shares of that series, whether dividends shall be cumulative, and, if so, from which date or dates, and the relative rights or priority, if any, of payment of dividends on shares of that series;

Whether that series shall have voting rights in addition to the voting rights provided by law;

Whether that series shall have conversion privileges, and, if so, the terms and conditions of such conversion, including provision for adjustment of the conversion rate upon the happening of specified events;

Whether or not the shares of that series shall be redeemable, and, if so, the terms and conditions of such redemption, including the date or dates upon or after which they shall be redeemable, and the amount per share payable in case of redemption, which amount may vary under different conditions and on different redemption dates;

Whether that series shall have a sinking fund for the redemption or purchase of shares of that series, and, if so, the terms and amount of such sinking fund;

The rights of the shares of that series in the event of voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of this corporation, and the relative rights or priority, if any, of payment on shares of that series; and

Such other designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof as it may deem advisable and shall be stated in said resolution or resolutions. All shares of preferred stock will, when issued, be fully paid and nonassessable and will not have any preemptive or similar rights.

In addition to the terms listed above, we will set forth in a prospectus supplement the following terms relating to the class or series of preferred stock being offered:

the number of shares of preferred stock offered, the liquidation preference per share and the offering price of the preferred stock;

the procedures for any auction and remarketing, if any, for the preferred stock;

any listing of the preferred stock on any securities exchange; and

a discussion of any material and/or special United States federal income tax considerations applicable to the preferred stock. Until our board of directors determines the rights of the holders of a series of preferred stock, we cannot predict the effect of the issuance of any shares of preferred stock upon the rights of holders of our common stock. However, the effect could include one or more of the following:

restricting dividends on our common stock;

diluting the voting power of our common stock;

impairing the liquidation rights of our common stock; or

delaying or preventing a change in control of us without further action by our stockholders.

Rank

If issued, the preferred stock would rank, with respect to dividends and upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up:

senior to all classes or series of our common stock and to all of our equity securities ranking junior to the preferred stock;

on a parity with all of our equity securities the terms of which specifically provide that the equity securities rank on a parity with the preferred stock; and

junior to all of our equity securities the terms of which specifically provide that the equity securities rank senior to the preferred stock.

DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS

This section describes the general terms of the warrants that we may offer and sell by this prospectus. This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement will contain the material terms and conditions for each warrant. The accompanying prospectus supplement may add, update or change the terms and conditions of the warrants as described in this prospectus.

General

We may issue warrants to purchase debt securities, preferred stock or common stock. Warrants may be issued independently or together with any securities and may be attached to or separate from those securities. The warrants will be issued under warrant agreements to be entered into between us and a bank or trust company, as warrant agent, all of which will be described in the prospectus supplement relating to the warrants we are offering. The warrant agent will act solely as our agent in connection with the warrants and will not have any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any holders or beneficial owners of warrants. A copy of the warrant agreement will be filed with the SEC in connection with the offering of the warrants.

Debt Warrants

We may issue warrants for the purchase of our debt securities. As explained below, each debt warrant will entitle its holder to purchase debt securities at an exercise price set forth in, or to be determinable as set forth in, the related prospectus supplement. Debt warrants may be issued separately or together with debt securities.

The debt warrants are to be issued under debt warrant agreements to be entered into between us and one or more banks or trust companies, as debt warrant agent, as will be set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to the debt warrants being offered by the prospectus supplement and this prospectus. A copy of the debt warrant agreement, including a form of debt warrant certificate representing the debt warrants, will be filed with the SEC in connection with the offering of the debt warrants.

The particular terms of each issue of debt warrants, the debt warrant agreement relating to the debt warrants and the debt warrant certificates representing debt warrants will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement, including, as applicable:

the title of the debt warrants;

the initial offering price;

the title, aggregate principal amount and terms of the debt securities purchasable upon exercise of the debt warrants;

the currency or currency units in which the offering price, if any, and the exercise price are payable;

the title and terms of any related debt securities with which the debt warrants are issued and the number of the debt warrants issued with each debt security;

the date, if any, on and after which the debt warrants and the related debt securities will be separately transferable;

the principal amount of debt securities purchasable upon exercise of each debt warrant and the price at which that principal amount of debt securities may be purchased upon exercise of each debt warrant;

if applicable, the minimum or maximum number of warrants that may be exercised at any one time;

the date on which the right to exercise the debt warrants will commence and the date on which the right will expire;

if applicable, a discussion of United States federal income tax, accounting or other considerations applicable to the debt warrants;

whether the debt warrants represented by the debt warrant certificates will be issued in registered or bearer form and, if registered, where they may be transferred and registered;

antidilution provisions of the debt warrants, if any;

redemption or call provisions, if any, applicable to the debt warrants; and

any additional terms of the debt warrants, including terms, procedures and limitations relating to the exchange and exercise of the debt warrants.

Debt warrant certificates will be exchangeable for new debt warrant certificates of different denominations and, if in registered form, may be presented for registration of transfer and debt warrants may be exercised at the corporate trust office of the debt warrant agent or any other office indicated in the related prospectus supplement. Before the exercise of debt warrants, holders of debt warrants will not be entitled to payments of principal, premium, if any, or interest, if any, on the debt securities purchasable upon exercise of the debt warrants, or to enforce any of the covenants in the applicable indenture.

Equity Warrants

We may issue warrants for the purchase of our equity securities such as our preferred stock or common stock. As explained below, each equity warrant will entitle its holder to purchase equity securities at an exercise price set forth in, or to be determinable as set forth in, the related prospectus supplement. Equity warrants may be issued separately or together with equity securities.

The equity warrants are to be issued under equity warrant agreements to be entered into between us and one or more banks or trust companies, as equity warrant agent, as will be set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to the equity warrants being offered by the prospectus supplement and this prospectus. A copy of the equity warrant agreement, including a form of equity warrant certificate representing the equity warranty, will be filed with the SEC in connection with the offering of the equity warrants.

The particular terms of each issue of equity warrants, the equity warrant agreement relating to the equity warrants and the equity warrant certificates representing equity warrants will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement, including, as applicable:

the title of the equity warrants;

the initial offering price;

the aggregate number of equity warrants and the aggregate number of shares of the equity security purchasable upon exercise of the equity warrants;

the currency or currency units in which the offering price, if any, and the exercise price are payable;

if applicable, the designation and terms of the equity securities with which the equity warrants are issued, and the number of equity warrants issued with each equity security;

the date, if any, on and after which the equity warrants and the related equity security will be separately transferable;

if applicable, the minimum or maximum number of the warrants that may be exercised at any one time;

the date on which the right to exercise the equity warrants will commence and the date on which the right will expire;

if applicable, a discussion of United States federal income tax, accounting or other considerations applicable to the equity warrants;

antidilution provisions of the equity warrants, if any;

redemption or call provisions, if any, applicable to the equity warrants; and

any additional terms of the equity warrants, including terms, procedures and limitations relating to the exchange and exercise of the equity warrants.

Holders of equity warrants will not be entitled, solely by virtue of being holders, to vote, to consent, to receive dividends, to receive notice as stockholders with respect to any meeting of stockholders for the election of directors or any other matter, or to exercise any rights whatsoever as a holder of the equity securities purchasable upon exercise of the equity warrants.

2	1
2	I
_	_

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES PURCHASE CONTRACTS AND SECURITIES PURCHASE UNITS

This section describes the general terms of the securities purchase contracts and securities purchase units that we may offer and sell by this prospectus. This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement will contain the material terms and conditions for each securities purchase contract and securities purchase unit. The accompanying prospectus supplement may add, update or change the terms and conditions of the securities purchase units as described in this prospectus.

Stock Purchase Contracts and Stock Purchase Units

We may issue stock purchase contracts, representing contracts obligating holders to purchase from or sell to us, and obligating us to sell to or purchase from the holders, a specified number of shares of common stock or preferred stock at a future date or dates, or a variable number of shares of common stock or preferred stock for a stated amount of consideration. The price per share and the number of shares of common stock or preferred stock may be fixed at the time the stock purchase contracts are issued or may be determined by reference to a specific formula set forth in the stock purchase contracts. Any such formula may include antidilution provisions to adjust the number of shares of common stock or preferred stock issuable pursuant to the stock purchase contracts upon certain events.

The stock purchase contracts may be issued separately or as a part of units consisting of a stock purchase contract and, as security for the holder s obligations to purchase or sell the shares under the stock purchase contracts, either

our senior debt securities or subordinated debt securities or

debt obligations of third parties, including U.S. Treasury securities.

The stock purchase contracts may require us to make periodic payments to the holders of the stock purchase units or vice versa, and such payments may be unsecured or prefunded on some basis. The stock purchase contracts may require holders to secure their obligations in a specified manner and in certain circumstances we may deliver newly issued prepaid stock purchase contracts upon release to a holder of any collateral securing such holder s obligations under the original stock purchase contract.

Debt Purchase Contracts and Debt Purchase Units

We may issue debt purchase contracts, representing contracts obligating holders to purchase from us, and obligating us to sell to the holders, a specified principal amount of debt securities at a future date or dates. The purchase price and the interest rate may be fixed at the time the debt purchase contracts are issued or may be determined by reference to a specific formula set forth in the debt purchase contracts.

The debt purchase contracts may be issued separately or as a part of units consisting of debt purchase contracts and, as security for the holder s obligations to purchase the securities under the debt purchase contracts, either

our senior debt securities or subordinated debt securities or

debt obligations of third parties, including U.S. Treasury securities.

The debt purchase contracts may require us to make periodic payments to the holders of the debt purchase units or vice versa, and such payments may be unsecured or prefunded on some basis. The debt purchase contracts may require holders to secure their obligations in a specified manner and in certain circumstances we may deliver newly issued prepaid debt purchase contracts upon release to a holder of any collateral securing such holder s obligations under the original debt purchase contract.

The applicable prospectus supplement will describe the general terms of any purchase contracts or purchase units and, if applicable, prepaid purchase contracts. The description in the prospectus supplement will not purport to be complete and will be qualified in its entirety by reference to

the purchase contracts,

the collateral arrangements and depositary arrangements, if applicable, relating to such purchase contracts or purchase units and

if applicable, the prepaid purchase contracts and the document pursuant to which such prepaid purchase contracts will be issued. Material United States federal income tax considerations applicable to the purchase contracts and the purchase units will also be discussed in the applicable prospectus supplement.

DESCRIPTION OF DEPOSITARY SHARES

This section describes the general terms of the depositary shares we may offer and sell by this prospectus. This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement will contain the material terms and conditions for the depositary shares. The accompanying prospectus supplement may add, update, or change the terms and conditions of the depositary shares as described in this prospectus.

General

We may, at our option, elect to offer depositary shares, each representing a fraction (to be set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to a particular series of preferred stock) of a share of a particular class or series of preferred stock as described below. In the event we elect to do so, depositary receipts evidencing depositary shares will be issued to the public.

The shares of any class or series of preferred stock represented by depositary shares will be deposited under a deposit agreement among us, a depositary selected by us and the holders of the depositary receipts. The depositary will be a bank or trust company having its principal office in the United States and having a combined capital and surplus of at least \$50,000,000. Subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, each owner of a depositary share will be entitled, in proportion to the applicable fraction of a share of preferred stock represented by such depositary share, to all the rights and preferences of the shares of preferred stock represented by the depositary share, including dividend, voting, redemption and liquidation rights.

The depositary shares will be evidenced by depositary receipts issued pursuant to the deposit agreement. Depositary receipts will be distributed to those persons purchasing the fractional shares of the related class or series of preferred shares in accordance with the terms of the offering described in the related prospectus supplement.

Pending the preparation of definitive depositary receipts, the depositary may, upon our written order, issue temporary depositary receipts substantially identical to, and entitling the holders thereof to all the rights pertaining to, the definitive depositary receipts but not in definitive form. Definitive depositary receipts will be prepared without unreasonable delay, and temporary depositary receipts will be exchangeable for definitive depositary receipts without charge to the holder.

Dividends and Other Distributions

The depositary will distribute all cash dividends or other cash distributions received for the preferred stock to the entitled record holders of depositary shares in proportion to the number of depositary shares that the holder owns on the relevant record date; provided, however, that if we or the depositary is required by law to withhold an amount on account of taxes, then the amount distributed to the holders of depositary shares shall be reduced accordingly. The depositary will distribute only an amount that can be distributed without attributing to any holder of depositary shares a fraction of one cent. The depositary will add the undistributed balance to, and treat it as part of, the next sum received by the depositary for distribution to holders of the depositary shares.

If there is a non-cash distribution, the depositary will distribute property received by it to the entitled record holders of depositary shares, in proportion, insofar as possible, to the number of depositary shares owned by the holders, unless the depositary determines, after consultation with us, that it is not feasible to make such distribution. If this occurs, the depositary may, with our approval, sell such property and distribute the net proceeds from such sale to the holders. The deposit agreement also will contain provisions relating to how any subscription or similar rights that we may offer to holders of the preferred stock will be available to the holders of the depositary shares.

Withdrawal of Shares

Upon surrender of the depositary receipts at the corporate trust office of the depositary, unless the related depositary shares have previously been called for redemption, converted or exchanged into our other securities, the holder of the depositary shares evidenced thereby is entitled to delivery of the number of whole shares of the related class or series of preferred stock and any money or other property represented by such depositary shares. Holders of depositary receipts will be entitled to receive whole shares of the related class or series of preferred stock, but holders of such whole shares of preferred stock will not thereafter be entitled to exchange them for depositary shares. If the depositary receipts delivered by the holder evidence a number of depositary shares in excess of the number of depositary shares representing the number of whole shares of preferred stock to be withdrawn, the depositary will deliver to such holder at the same time a new depositary receipt evidencing such excess number of depositary shares. In no event will fractional shares of preferred stock be delivered upon surrender of depositary receipts to the depositary.

Conversion, Exchange and Redemption

If any class or series of preferred stock underlying the depositary shares may be converted or exchanged, each record holder of depositary receipts representing the shares of preferred stock being converted or exchanged will have the right or obligation to convert or exchange the depositary shares represented by the depositary receipts.

Whenever we redeem or convert shares of preferred stock held by the depositary, the depositary will redeem or convert, at the same time, the number of depositary shares representing the preferred stock to be redeemed or converted. The depositary will redeem the depositary shares from the proceeds it receives from the corresponding redemption of the applicable series of preferred stock. The depositary will mail notice of redemption or conversion to the record holders of the depositary shares that are to be redeemed between 30 and 60 days before the date fixed for redemption or conversion. The redemption price per depositary share will be equal to the applicable fraction of the redemption price per share on the applicable class or series of preferred stock. If less than all the depositary shares are to be redeemed, the depositary will select which shares are to be redeemed by lot on a pro rata basis or by any other equitable method as the depositary may decide.

After the redemption or conversion date, the depositary shares called for redemption or conversion will no longer be outstanding. When the depositary shares are no longer outstanding, all rights of the holders will end, except the right to receive money, securities or other property payable upon redemption or conversion.

Voting the Preferred Stock

When the depositary receives notice of a meeting at which the holders of the particular class or series of preferred stock are entitled to vote, the depositary will mail the particulars of the meeting to the record holders of the depositary shares. Each record holder of depositary shares on the record date may instruct the depositary on how to vote the shares of preferred stock underlying the holder s depositary shares. The depositary will try, if practical, to vote the number of shares of preferred stock underlying the depositary shares according to the instructions. We will agree to take all reasonable action requested by the depositary to enable it to vote as instructed.

Amendment and Termination of the Deposit Agreement

We and the depositary may agree at any time to amend the deposit agreement and the depositary receipt evidencing the depositary shares. Any amendment that (a) imposes or increases certain fees, taxes or other charges payable by the holders of the depositary shares as described in the deposit agreement or (b) otherwise materially adversely affects any substantial existing rights of holders of depositary shares, will not take effect

until such amendment is approved by the holders of at least a majority of the depositary shares then outstanding. Any holder of depositary shares that continues to hold its shares after such amendment has become effective will be deemed to have agreed to the amendment.

We may direct the depositary to terminate the deposit agreement by mailing a notice of termination of holders of depositary shares at least 30 days prior to termination. The depositary may terminate the deposit agreement if 90 days have elapsed after the depositary delivered written notice of its election to resign and a successor depositary is not appointed. In addition, the deposit agreement will automatically terminate if:

the depositary has redeemed all related outstanding depositary shares;

all outstanding shares of preferred stock have been converted into or exchanged for common stock; or

we have liquidated, terminated or wound up our business and the depositary has distributed the preferred stock of the relevant series to the holders of the related depositary shares.

Reports and Obligations

The depositary will forward to the holders of depositary shares all reports and communications from us that are delivered to the depositary and that we are required by law, the rules of an applicable securities exchange or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to furnish to the holders of the preferred stock. Neither we nor the depositary will be liable if the depositary is prevented or delayed by law or any circumstances beyond its control in performing its obligations under the deposit agreement. The deposit agreement limits our obligations to performance in good faith of the duties stated in the deposit agreement. The deposit agreement without negligence or bad faith. Neither we nor the depositary will be obligated to prosecute or defend any legal proceeding connected with any depositary shares or class or series of preferred stock unless the holders of depositary shares requesting us to do so furnish us with a satisfactory indemnity. In performing our obligations, we and the depositary may rely and act upon the advice of our counsel or accountants, on any information provided to us by a person presenting shares for deposit, any holder of a receipt, or any other document believed by us or the depositary to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

Payment of Fees and Expenses

We will pay all fees, charges and expenses of the depositary, including the initial deposit of the preferred stock and any redemption of the preferred stock. Holders of depositary shares will pay taxes and governmental charges and any other charges as are stated in the deposit agreement for their accounts.

Resignation and Removal of Depositary

At any time, the depositary may resign by delivering notice to us, and we may remove the depositary at any time. Resignations or removals will take effect upon the appointment of a successor depositary and its acceptance of the appointment. The successor depositary must be appointed within 90 days after the delivery of the notice of resignation or removal and must be a bank or trust company having its principal office in the United States and having a combined capital and surplus of at least \$50,000,000.

GLOBAL SECURITIES

Book-Entry, Delivery and Form

Unless we indicate differently in a prospectus supplement, the debt securities, the common stock, preferred stock, warrants, stock purchase contracts, stock purchase units or depositary shares (the securities) initially will be issued in book entry form and represented by one or more global notes or global securities (collectively, global securities). The global securities will be deposited with, or on behalf of, The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, as depositary (DTC), and registered in the name of Cede & Co., the nominee of DTC. Unless and until it is exchanged for individual certificates evidencing securities under the limited circumstances described below, a global security may not be transferred except as a whole by the depositary to its nominee or by the nominee to the depositary or by the depositary or its nominee to a successor depositary or to a nominee of the successor depositary.

DTC has advised us that it is:

- a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law;
- a banking organization within the meaning of the New York Banking Law;
- a member of the Federal Reserve System;
- a clearing corporation within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code; and
- a clearing agency registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act).

DTC holds securities that its participants deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the settlement among its participants of securities transactions, including transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry changes in participants accounts, which eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct participants in DTC include securities brokers and dealers, including underwriters, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and other organizations. DTC is owned by a number of its direct participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange LLC and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others, referred to as indirect participants, that clear transactions through or maintain a custodial relationship with a direct participant either directly or indirectly. The rules applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the SEC.

Purchases of securities within the DTC system must be made by or through direct participants, which will receive a credit for those securities on DTC s records. The ownership interest of the actual purchaser of a security, which we sometimes refer to as a beneficial owner, is in turn recorded on the direct and indirect participants records. Beneficial owners of securities will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchases. However, beneficial owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of their transactions, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the direct or indirect participants through whom they purchased securities. Transfers of ownership interests in global securities are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of participants acting on behalf of beneficial owners. Beneficial owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the global securities except under the limited circumstances described below.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all global securities deposited by direct participants with DTC will be registered in the name of DTC s partnership nominee, Cede & Co, or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other nominee do not affect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual beneficial owners of the securities. DTC s records reflect only the identity of the direct participants to whose accounts the securities are credited, which may or may not be the beneficial owners. The direct and indirect participants are responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Edgar Filing: GAP INC - Form S-3ASR

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to direct participants, by direct participants to indirect participants and by direct participants and indirect participants to beneficial owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any legal requirements in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices will be sent to DTC or its nominee. If less than all of the securities of a particular series are being redeemed, DTC s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each direct participant in such issue to be redeemed.

In any case where a vote may be required with respect to securities of a particular series, neither DTC nor Cede & Co. will give consents for or vote the global securities, unless authorized by a direct participant in accordance with DTC s procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC will mail an omnibus proxy to us as soon as possible after the record date. The omnibus proxy assigns the consenting or voting rights of Cede & Co. to those direct participants to whose accounts the securities of such series are credited on the record date identified in a listing attached to the omnibus proxy.

Principal and interest payments on the securities will be made to Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. DTC s practice is to credit direct participants accounts upon receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from us or the paying agent in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC s records. Payments by direct and indirect participants to beneficial owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the account of customers in bearer form or registered in street name. Those payments will be the responsibility of participants and not of DTC, the paying agent or us, subject to any legal requirements in effect from time to time. Payment of principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may otherwise be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is our responsibility, disbursement of payments to direct participants is the responsibility of DTC and disbursement of payments to the beneficial owners is the responsibility of direct and indirect participants.

Except under the limited circumstances described below, purchasers of securities will not be entitled to have securities registered in their names and will not receive physical delivery of securities. Accordingly, each beneficial owner must rely on the procedures of DTC and its participants to exercise any rights under the securities and the applicable indenture.

The laws of some jurisdictions may require that some purchasers of securities take physical delivery of securities in definitive form. Those laws may impair the ability to transfer or pledge beneficial interests in securities.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the securities at any time by giving us reasonable notice. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, certificates representing the securities are required to be printed and delivered. Also, we may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository), in which event, certificates representing the securities will be printed and delivered to DTC.

We have obtained the information in this section and elsewhere in this prospectus concerning DTC and DTC s book-entry system from sources that are believed to be reliable, but we take no responsibility for the accuracy of this information.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell the debt securities, the common stock, the preferred stock, the depositary shares, the warrants, the securities purchase contracts, and the securities purchase units (which we collectively refer to as the securities) in one or more of the following ways from time to time:

to underwriters for resale to the public or to institutional investors;

directly to institutional investors; or

through agents to the public or to institutional investors.

The prospectus supplement with respect to the securities we may sell will set forth the terms of the offering of such securities, including the name or names of any underwriters or agents, the purchase price of such securities, and the proceeds to us from such sale, any underwriting discounts or agency fees and other items constituting underwriters or agents compensation, any initial public offering price, any discounts or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers and any securities exchange on which such securities may be listed.

If underwriters participate in the sale, such securities will be acquired by the underwriters for their own account and may be resold from time to time in one or more transactions, including negotiated transactions, at a fixed public offering price, at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices based on prevailing market prices or at negotiated prices.

Securities may be offered to the public either through underwriting syndicates represented by one or more managing underwriters or directly by one or more of those firms. The specific managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, will be named in the prospectus supplement relating to the particular securities together with the members of the underwriting syndicate, if any. Unless otherwise set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement, the obligations of the underwriters to purchase any series of the securities will be subject to certain conditions precedent and the underwriters will be obligated to purchase all of such series of debt securities, common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares, warrants, securities purchase contracts, and securities purchase units, if any are purchased.

We may sell securities directly or through agents we designate from time to time. The prospectus supplement will set forth the name of any agent involved in the offer or sale of securities in respect of which such prospectus supplement is delivered and any commissions payable by us to such agent. Unless otherwise indicated in a prospectus supplement, any agent will be acting on a best efforts basis for the period of its appointment.

Any underwriters, dealers or agents participating in the distribution of securities may be deemed to be underwriters as defined in the Securities Act, and any discounts or commissions received by them on the sale or resale of securities may be deemed to be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. Underwriters and agents may be entitled under agreements entered into with us to be severally indemnified against certain civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act. Underwriters and agents may engage in transactions with, or perform services for, us in the ordinary course of business.

Each series of debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares, warrants, securities purchase contracts, and securities purchase units will be a new issue of securities and will have no established trading market. Any underwriters to whom securities are sold for public offering and sale may make a market in such securities, but such underwriters will not be obligated to do so and may discontinue any market making at any time without notice. The debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares, warrants, securities purchase contracts, and securities purchase units may or may not be listed on a national securities exchange.

To facilitate a securities offering, any underwriter may engage in over-allotment, short covering transactions and penalty bids or stabilizing transactions in accordance with Regulation M under the Exchange Act, including:

over-allotment involves sales in excess of the offering size, which creates a short position;

Edgar Filing: GAP INC - Form S-3ASR

stabilizing transactions permit bids to purchase the underlying securities so long as the stabilizing bids do not exceed a specified maximum;

short covering positions involve purchases of securities in the open market after the distribution is completed to cover short positions; and

penalty bids permit the underwriters to reclaim a selling concession from a dealer when securities originally sold by the dealer are purchased in a covering transaction to cover short positions.

These activities may cause the price of the securities to be higher than it otherwise would be. If commenced, these activities may be discontinued by the underwriters at any time.

VALIDITY OF THE SECURITIES

The validity of the securities will be passed upon for us by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, San Francisco, California. Certain legal matters in connection with the offered securities will be passed on for any agents, dealers or underwriters by their counsel named in the applicable prospectus supplement.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements and the related financial statement schedules, incorporated in this prospectus by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2011, and the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their reports, which are incorporated herein by reference. Such financial statements and financial statement schedules have been so incorporated in reliance upon the reports of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC under the File No. 001-07562. These SEC filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC s website at http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any of these SEC filings at the SEC s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on its public reference room.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus, and later information that we file with the SEC will automatically update and, where applicable, supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below as well as all future filings made with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (other than information deemed to be furnished and not filed):

(a) Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2011; and

(b) Our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on February 1, 2011, February 18, 2011, March 11, 2011 and April 7, 2011.

This prospectus is part of the Registration Statement that we filed with the SEC under the Securities Act. This prospectus does not contain all of the information set forth in the Registration Statement, certain parts of which are omitted in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. Wherever a reference is made in this prospectus to a contract or other document of the Company, please be aware that the reference is only a summary and that you should refer to the exhibits that are a part of the Registration Statement for a copy of the contract or other document. You should look at the Registration Statement and its exhibits for further information about us and the securities.

You may request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address:

The Gap, Inc.

Two Folsom Street

San Francisco, CA 94105

Attention: Investor Relations

Telephone: 1-800-GAP-NEWS

In addition, documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus are made available by the SEC to any person through (i) the public reference facilities maintained by the SEC by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 and (ii) the SEC s Internet site at http://www.sec.gov.

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The following table sets forth all expenses, other than the underwriting discounts and commissions, payable by us in connection with the sale of the securities being registered. All the amounts shown are estimates except for the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) registration fee.

SEC Registration fee	\$ *
Rating Agencies fees	**
Fees and expenses of Trustee	**
Printing expenses	**
Blue Sky and legal investment fees and expense	**
Accountants fees and expenses	**
Counsel fees and expenses	**
Miscellaneous	**
Total	\$ **

* Deferred in accordance with Rule 456(b) and Rule 457(r) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act).

** The amount of securities and number of offerings are indeterminable, and the expenses cannot be estimated at this time

Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Section 145 of the Delaware Corporation Law authorizes a court to award or a corporation s board of directors to grant indemnity to officers and directors in terms sufficiently broad to permit such indemnification under certain circumstances for liabilities (including reimbursement for expenses incurred) arising under the Securities Act. The Registrant s bylaws provide for indemnification of the Registrant s directors and officers to the maximum extent permitted by the Delaware law.

Item 16. Exhibits.

Exhibit Number	Description of Document
1.1	Form of Underwriting Agreement (Debt Securities).*
1.2	Form of Underwriting Agreement (Equity Securities).*
4.1	Form of Indenture between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee.
4.2	Form of Debt Security (included in Exhibit 4.1).
4.3	Form of Purchase Contract Agreement.*
4.4	Form of Warrant Agreement.*
4.5	Form of Warrant Certificate (included in Exhibit 4.5).*
4.6	Form of Deposit Agreement.*
4.7	Form of Depositary Receipt (included in Exhibit 4.7).*

Table of Contents

Edgar Filing: GAP INC - Form S-3ASR

Opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP.

5.1

- 12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.
- 23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
- 23.2 Consent of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
- 24.1 Powers of Attorney.
- 25.1 Statement of Eligibility on Form T-1 under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee under the Indenture.
- * To be subsequently filed on Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated by reference.

Item 17. Undertakings.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(a) to include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;

(b) to reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which as registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective registration statement;

(c) to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

provided, however, that paragraphs 1(a), 1(b) and 1(c) do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the SEC by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser:

(a) each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and

(b) each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.

(5) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities, the undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

(i) any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;

(ii) any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned registrant;

(iii) the portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and

(iv) any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.

(6) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of the registrant s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

(7) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the provisions described under Item 15 above, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

(8) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.

(9) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

(10) The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes to file an application for the purpose of determining the eligibility of the trustee to act under subsection (a) of Section 310 of the Trust Indenture Act (Act) in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the SEC under Section 305(b)(2) of the Act.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this Registration Statement or amendment to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of San Francisco, State of California, on the 7th day of April, 2011.

THE GAP, INC.

(Registrant)

/s/ GLENN K. MURPHY Glenn K. Murphy

By

Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this Registration Statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Glenn K. Murphy	Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Director	April 7, 2011
Glenn K. Murphy		
(Principal Executive Officer)		
/s/ Sabrina L. Simmons	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	April 7, 2011
Sabrina L. Simmons	Chief Financial Officer	
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)		
*	Director	April 7, 2011
Adrian D. P. Bellamy		
*	Director	April 7, 2011
Domenico De Sole		
*	Director	April 7, 2011
Robert J. Fisher		
*	Director	April 7, 2011
William S. Fisher		
*	Director	April 7, 2011
Dob I Mostin		

Bob L. Martin

Edgar Filing: GAP INC - Form S-3ASR

*	Director	April 7, 2011
Jorge P. Montoya		
*	Director	April 7, 2011
Mayo A. Shattuck III		
*	Director	April 7, 2011
Katherine Tsang		

*By:

Signature	Ti	itle Date
*	Director	April 7, 2011
Kneeland C. Youngblood		
/s/ Michelle Banks		
Michelle Banks		
Attorney-in-Fact		

EXHIBIT INDEX

Item 16. Exhibits.

Exhibit Number	Description Of Document
1.1	Form of Underwriting Agreement (Debt Securities).*
1.2	Form of Underwriting Agreement (Equity Securities).*
4.1	Form of Indenture between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee.
4.2	Form of Debt Security (included in Exhibit 4.1).
4.3	Form of Purchase Contract Agreement.*
4.4	Form of Warrant Agreement.*
4.5	Form of Warrant Certificate (included in Exhibit 4.5).*
4.6	Form of Deposit Agreement.*
4.7	Form of Depositary Receipt (included in Exhibit 4.7).*
5.1	Opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP.
12.1	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.
23.1	Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
23.2	Consent of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
24.1	Powers of Attorney.
25.1	Statement of Eligibility on Form T-1 under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee under the Indenture.

* To be subsequently filed on Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated by reference.